

Foundations for the Future

Exploring Perspectives in the Management of ADKD





Contents

- 1. Foreword: Why We Need This Report
- 2 Executive Summary
- 3. Contributing Advisors
- What is Quality of Life (QOL) in Relation to Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)?
 - 4.1 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
 - 4.2 What do we mean by QOL in relation to ADHD?
 - 4.3 How is QOL impaired in children with ADHD?
 - 4.4 Current clinical focus: The school day
 - 4.5 Social interaction & self-esteem
 - 4.6 Long-term social outcomes
 - 4.7 How do other childhood conditions affect QOL?
- The Current Evidence Base
 - 5.1 What do we currently know?
 - 5.2 What more do we need to find out?
- 6. How Do We Define Parameters of Quality of Life in ADHD?
- 7. How Do We Measure Quality of Life in ADHD?
 - 7.1 How is ADHD currently managed?
 - 72 The evolution of clinical rating scales
 - 7.3 Patient perception: A validated measure?
 - 7.4 How do we measure patient perception in ADHD?
 - 7.5 Measurement of QOL: The new parameter in ADHD
- 8. Foundations for the Future: A Call to Action
- 9. Appendix 1: A Guide to Common Clinical Rating Scales
- 10. References

1. Foreword: Why We Need This Report

'Quality of life' is a measure of the impact a particular condition can have on a patients' wellbeing. However, it is an allencompassing term that means different things to different people. Whilst over the last two decades impairment on quality of life has been an important consideration in managing many conditions in both adults and children, it is only now being viewed as relevant to those with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD).

If the impact of ADHD on quality of life is to be a useful concept then it is essential that the meaning is clear and that terms are well defined. This report endeavours to provide an overview of the subject, a usable definition to describe the impact of ADHD on quality of life and a basis on which to improve it.

This is, to our knowledge, the first report to bring together comprehensive evidence relating to the quality of life of ADHD patients, alongside the opinions and perspectives of those who deal with the condition including healthcare professionals, third party groups, community-based personnel and teaching staff.

The report encourages clinicians to consider the wider impact of ADHD and its treatment on a young person's day-to-day life beyond the school day, including adverse effects on academic performance, peer-to-peer relationships, social skills, family interactions, self-esteem and long-term social outcomes. It also urges all professionals in the area of ADHD to agree a clear definition for quality of life in ADHD and use this when managing the condition.

With these tools it is hoped that we, as professionals, are able to develop more integrated, defined and appropriate management strategies. The ultimate aim is to improve long-term outcomes for children with ADHD and their families.

Professor Harry Zeitlin

Emeritus Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University College London, Consultant, North Essex Mental Health Trust

2. Executive Summary

- Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is associated with impairment in many areas of a child or adolescents' broader functioning, referred to as their 'quality of life' (QOL).
- The QOL of children and adolescents may be impaired both in the short and long-term as a result of their ADHD.
 Effects can be assessed and measured in distinct domains: emotional wellbeing, physical activity, social and family interaction, academic achievement, level of self-satisfaction and self perception.
- Although the impact of ADHD on QOL has been identified, current management of the condition still focuses on controlling the core symptoms of hyperactivity, impulsiveness and inattention, especially during the school day while the impact of ADHD on QOL, such as social relationships and family interaction, tend to be overlooked in any detail.
- The development of an increasing number of multi-dimensional clinical rating scales and the consideration of patient perception now afford the opportunity to measure the health of children and adolescents with ADHD more comprehensively.
- The current inconsistency in approach towards considering QOL in ADHD also extends beyond the clinical setting. In
 order to develop a unified approach to improving QOL in ADHD, clinicians must work together with external agencies
 and third parties to increase long-term clinical and social outcomes for all children and adolescents with ADHD.

3. Contributing Advisers

Phil Anderton

Former Senior Police Officer

Lancashire Police Community Safety Team



Phil Anderton first started working in ADHD as a senior police officer when he was responsible for reducing youth crime in Lancashire. While seeking to undertake this responsibility in a manner that broke new ground, he began working with other agencies involved in the lives of young people with ADHD in an attempt to foster greater understanding and thereby reduce the risk for young people with ADHD. Phil speaks on the subject throughout Europe and the US. Phil currently works as a management consultant with Mott Macdonald who has kindly allowed him to continue his good work in this field.

Andrea Bilbow

Founder and Director

The National Attention Deficit Disorder Information and Support Service (ADDISS)



Andrea Bilbow's younger son was diagnosed with ADHD and Aspergers Syndrome in 1992 at the age of five years. Soon after his diagnosis, Andrea became actively involved in researching and learning about ADHD, which resulted in her setting up a local support group. The acute lack of awareness and expertise among childcare professionals drove her to establish the National Attention Deficit Disorder Information and Support Service (ADDISS). Andrea has since organised seven international three-day conferences and over 19 local one-day training events, bringing together healthcare professionals and those involved

in the care of people with ADHD from all over the world in order to raise awareness of the condition and share current information. Professionals and parents in the UK and abroad recognise ADDISS as the leading national advocacy movement in the UK.

Dr Saroj Jamdar

Associate Specialist in Child Health

Child & Family Mental Health Service, Wigan, Greater Manchester



Dr Jamdar is a Community Paediatrician with special interest in the area of ADHD. She qualified in India from Jabalpur and completed an MD in paediatrics from the Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education and Research at Chandigarh, India. After moving to the UK, she undertook a diploma in Child Health in Glasgow. Dr Jamdar has participated in various studies which looked at the impact of ADHD on quality of life and presented the resulting data to international audiences in Vienna, San Diego and regionally to paediatric and child psychiatry colleagues. In addition, Dr Jamdar has also written a paper on the management of ADHD for

the British Journal of Hospital Medicine and participated in a BBC Horizon programme entitled 'Living with ADHD'.

Lisa Mangle

Specialist ADHD Nurse

Ryegate Children's Hospital, Sheffield, Yorkshire



Lisa Mangle began her career in 1985 when she trained as a Paediatric Nurse at Sheffield Children's Hospital. Over the next 15 years, she gained experience in a variety of specialist areas including surgery, medicine and oncology. In 2000, Lisa graduated with a BSc in Psychology which fuelled her interest in ADHD. For the past five years, she has worked as an ADHD Clinical Nurse Specialist at The Ryegate Children's Centre in Sheffield. In addition, Lisa is currently studying for an MA in Autism and is also an active member of the UK ADHD National Nurse Network (UKANN) Steering Group, which organises

annual conferences attended by over 120 specialist ADHD nurses.



Behaviour Management Consultant

Epsom, Surrey



Fintan O'Regan is a former science teacher and Headmaster of The Centre Academy School, regarded as the first specialist school within the UK for children with ADHD/Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD). He is currently an associate lecturer at Leicester University and the Institute of Education as well as an external expert for Worcester University. Fintan is the Honorary Education Director of the ADDISS Charitable Trust and a Behaviour Adviser for Surrey LEA and the National Association of Special Educational Needs (NASEN). In addition, he has written a number of published articles on the subject of behaviour management and Special

Educational Needs (SEN). He is author of the Times Educational Supplement (T.E.S). award wining book, Educating Children with ADHD (2000). Other books include How to Teach and Manage Children with ADHD (2001), Surviving and Succeeding in SEN (2004), ADHD (2005), Challenging Behaviours (2006) and Troubleshooting Challenging Behaviours (2006).

Dr Chris Steer

Consultant Paediatrician

Victoria Hospital, Kirkcaldy, Fife



Dr Steer qualified at Edinburgh University 1971 and has been a Consultant Paediatrician at the Victoria Hospital in Kirkcaldy, Fife since 1984, with dual accreditation in Paediatrics and Paediatric Neurology. He is responsible for a busy Neurodevelopmental, Learning Disability and Paediatric Epilepsy Clinic in Fife. In addition, Dr Steer is a Fellow of the Royal College of Paediatrics Child Health (RCPCH) and Royal College of Physicians (RCPsyche) Edinburgh. His clinical and research interests and publications include pharmacotherapy and quality of life in ADHD, Paediatric Epilepsy, Autism and Learning Difficulties. Dr

Steer is also a contributor to the SIGN Guidelines on ADHD and Paediatric Epilepsy, a member of the Quality Improvement Scotland (QIS) working group auditing ADHD services across Scotland (ADHDSOS), a member of steering groups for the Scottish Intercollegiate Group on Alcohol (SIGA) and the Scottish Paediatric Epilepsy Network (SPEN).

Professor Harry Zeitlin

Emeritus Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University College London Consultant, North Essex, Mental Health Trust

Essex



Professor Harry Zeitlin studied medicine at the London Hospital and initially pursued respiratory medicine. He became interested in the psychological impact of physical disorder and trained in Psychiatry and then Child Psychiatry at the Maudsley Hospital. In 1974, Professor Zeitlin moved to the Westminster Children's Hospital as Senior Lecturer and Regional Tutor, where he strove to improve the teaching of Child Psychiatry in General Medical Training. He became Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry at University College London in 1991 until 2004, when he received then the title of Emeritus Professor. He

has worked over many years as an expert witness to the courts, providing particular focus on the impact of disorder and treatment on quality of life. Professor Zeitlin has published on a range of topics including long term outcome from childhood, child abuse, substance misuse in children and adolescents, child psychiatry and the law, prevalence of Tourette's syndrome and ADHD.

4. What is Quality of Life (QOL) in Relation to Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)?

4.1 Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) is known to be the most common childhood-onset neurodevelopmental condition and one of the most prevalent chronic health conditions affecting school-aged children. Approximately 3-5% of children in the UK currently suffer from the disorder.

Children and adolescents with ADHD often have one or more co-existing conditions or comorbidities. These can make it more difficult to diagnose as many of the symptoms of ADHD can also be symptoms of other disorders. Conditions often linked with ADHD include Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD), Conduct Disorder (CD), depression, Tourettes syndrome, anxiety, learning disabilities, language or hearing difficulties and dyslexia.

Characteristic symptoms of ADHD include inattention, hyperactivity and impulsiveness which are displayed to a greater extent than in other children of the same age and development level. In addition, the effects of ADHD extend far beyond these core symptoms, exhibiting wide-ranging and debilitating effects on the patient's wellbeing.

"Matthew, when trying to justify why his impulsivity had got the better of him, explained that 'the bad side of my body is stronger than the good side'." ⁵ Parent of Matthew', age 12

4.2 What do we mean by QOL in relation to ADHD?

It has long been understood that children with ADHD can experience emotional and social problems than can result in an exacerbation of their condition. This 'quality of life' effect (or 'QOL') is not a new concept, although only recently have researchers begun investigating it in relation to ADHD.

Some clinicians agree that QOL is a measure of the perception of an individual's personal functioning.\(^1\) However, the term encompasses many parameters including the patient's physical, mental and social wellbeing.\(^6\)

Guidance on ADHD issued in 2006 by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) specifically mentions that children with severe ADHD can often have low self-esteem, develop emotional and social problems and frequently underachieve at school.³

"Quality of life isn't there for us to find; we need to define what we mean by the term."

Professor Karry Zeitlin, Emeritus Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry

4.3 How is QOL impaired in children with ADHD?

Since there is no one commonly used definition of QOL in ADHD, it is more pertinent to describe it in terms of the day-to-day effect on the child or adolescent.

The effects of ADHD on a child's QOL fall into three key areas: the child's relationships at home, their friendships and academic achievement at school, and areas that fall outside of these spheres within the external environment (see Figure 1). All these areas interlink and cannot be considered in isolation. For example, a stressful family environment caused by the symptoms of the child's ADHD may impact their performance at school, potentially leading to truancy and ultimately contact with the criminal justice system. Alternatively, prejudice from other parents may lead to social exclusion by peers which may lower the child's self-esteem and damage relationships with family and friends. Therefore, when considering the effect of ADHD on a child's QOL, all three areas must be taken into account with equal weight.

"Sleep deprivation is a specific area of concern in ADKD; the longterm implications of sleep deprivation can compromise a child's emotional and educational development. Finding ways to reduce the negative impact of sleep disturbances should become a routine part of managing ADKD."

Dr Chris Steer, Consultant Paediatrician

"Although school is important for children and adolescents with ADAD, children actually only spend less than a fifth of their time in school during the course of the year."

Fintan O'Regan, Behaviour Management Consultant



Figure 1. Areas for interaction for a child with ADHD

Self-esteem	80% of parents feel that their child has a lower self-esteem compared with their peers. ⁷
Academic performance	In 92% of cases, parents feel that their child's ability to achieve at school is affected by their ADHD.7
Peer-to-peer relationships	Almost 65% of UK children with ADHD are unable to maintain lasting friendships with their peers.8
Self perception	Children with ADHD feel that they have a lower self-esteem than peers who don't suffer from the condition.9
Social acceptability	39% of children with ADHD have been excluded from school as a result of their condition.7
Social functioning	53% of children with ADHD spend the majority of their free time alone.8
Family relationships	Almost one half of families report a significant negative impact as a result of their child's ADHD.9

Figure 2. Specific examples of the wider areas in which ADHD can have a wider impact on the wellbeing of children and adolescents.

4.4 Current clinical focus: The school day

ADHD has a significant impact on the academic achievement of the child or adolescent. A recent study has shown that the majority of children with ADHD were rated as performing below the expected level for their age and cognitive functioning. ¹⁰ In addition, due to the restless and impulsive symptoms of ADHD, children with the condition can often display disruptive behaviour in the classroom which can effect the quality of learning of all the other children in the class.

In order to combat the impact that ADHD can have on the child's life at school, many clinical management strategies currently focus purely on controlling the child's symptoms throughout the school day. However, in reality children can sometimes only spend just four hours on lessons or working during a weekday.¹¹ It is the unstructured time at home and in the outside world that is harder to manage.

"As every class is likely to have one or more child with ADAD, it could be argued that as this child is taking up a lot of the teacher's time, the quality of learning of the other children is being affected. Therefore, every child in every classroom is affected to some degree, either directly or indirectly, by ADAD."

Fintan O'Regan, Behaviour Management Consultant

Around 40% of children with ADHD have received a Statement of Educational Needs, demonstrating the severity of the condition in relation to achieving in the classroom.⁷

"I drift off for a few minutes... when I come back round, everyone is two pages ahead of me." 2 claire", aged 13

"The important factors in a school environment are academic achievement and social interaction. If you are not succeeding in these, you are not going to be a happy child."

Fintan O'Regan, Behaviour Management Consultant

4.5 Social interaction & self-esteem

Developing the ability to make and maintain friendships during childhood and adolescence is key to successful development and self-esteem. Unfortunately, young people with ADHD have difficulty cultivating these relationships and developing social skills. The symptoms of impulsivity, inattention and hyperactivity often cause children to be excluded from social activities from a very young age. Without appropriate treatment, social exclusion can become even more disabling as the child gets older and they can have difficulty creating and maintaining friendships, thus lowering their self-confidence.¹³

Young people with ADHD are often bullied by their peers for acting differently or displaying unusual behaviour. More than half of children with ADHD have been shown to get picked on by other children often or most of the time, compared with children without the condition. Children with ADHD can be perceived as irritating, immature and offensive by their peers and adults alike.

As a result of the disrupted and poor development of social skills, older children often display "anti-social" behaviour and commonly find themselves outside the law and almost 20% of adolescents with ADHD have been in trouble with the police.⁷

53% of children with ADHO play alone most of the time, compared to only 12% of children without the condition.⁸

"Not everyone likes me at school but at least my teacher is nice to me." Alex', age 9

4.6 Long-term social outcomes

Evidence suggests that up to seven in 10 children continue to show symptoms of ADHD into adolescence and adulthood. As a result, these adolescents are at an increased risk of poor long-term outcomes such as lower educational and employment achievements, antisocial behaviour, smoking and may even begin taking harder drugs at a younger age compared with peers. Energies with ADHD are more likely to fail at school and get lower status jobs than their peers. It is thought that poor long-term outcomes are due to the low self-esteem acquired during childhood which can persist into adolescence.

Young people with ADHD often live on the edge of society; young adults who have been diagnosed with ADHD in childhood have been found to have a greater involvement with drug use, the courts and police than their peers. The Criminal Justice Report, authored by the Audit Commission in 2004, found that there has been a significant increase in mental health problems among young people in contact with the criminal justice system in recent times, including ADHD. The condition is particularly high amongst young offenders; studies have found that between 25-45% of young male prisoners have ADHD. D. 20,21

Associated comorbidities can also increase the risk of negative long-term outcomes independently of ADHD; data indicates that ADHD with associated conduct disorder (CD), related yet different disorders, confers a risk of adult illegal behavior or arrest in later life.²² CD has around a 50% comorbidity with ADHD and can therefore exacerbate the risk of long-term dysfunction.²³

"ADKD has a huge effect on long-term social outcomes. People with poorly managed or misdiagnosed ADKD are more likely to enter the criminal justice system which, in turn, frustrates their opportunities in life." Phil Anderton, Former Senior Police Officer

"My son became extremely paranoid and was angry at the world because of what his ADKD had done to him and the lack of support he received. He is now in prison. If his problems were tackled when he was much younger then his story could have been very different." Parent of Andrew', aged 23



4.7 How do other childhood conditions affect QOL?

It is widely accepted that many other chronic childhood diseases adversely affect QOL. For example, evidence shows that atopic dematitis, the most common inflammatory skin disease in children, has psychosocial effects including behavioural problems, excessive dependency and fearfulness. In addition to the impact on the child, the condition has a social, emotional and financial impact on the family; mothers of children with the condition report a decrease in employment outside the home as well as difficulty with discipline.

With regards to school-aged children, intensive diabetes treatment has a documented psychosocial impact on the patient. Parents also have great emotional and physical demands placed upon them at the time of diagnosis which may be problematic because the psychosocial adjustment of parents has been linked to similar difficulties in their children, 24,27

Tourette's syndrome, which is now acknowledged to be far more common than once thought, affecting up to 1% of 13-14 year olds in the UK,²⁶ also has a profound effect on the schooling, social and work functioning of those affected by the condition. In addition, some patients also have comorbidities including ADHD.

5. The Current Evidence Base

As outlined in section 4, ADHD can impair many areas of a child's development including academic performance, social development, behaviour in school, peer-to-peer relationships and family functioning. However, in line with a more traditional approach, the majority of pharmacological studies have been carried out on the basis of measuring core symptoms rather than QOL.

5.1 What do we currently know?

The concept of QOL (with and without disease association) began to be studied in the US in the late 1980s, focusing on the importance of reviewing a persons' overall functioning. Research has shown that global functioning is affected by the presence of symptoms and its effect on daily activity levels, psychological wellbeing and social interaction.^{29,80}

There are only a few studies that specifically measure the broader effects of ADHD in children. Most recently, Klassen et al found that:³⁰

- · ADHD has a significant impact on multiple areas of QOL for children and adolescents in comparison to normative data
- Children with ADHD have raised levels of parent-reported problems in terms of behaviour, mental health and self-esteem in relation to symptom severity and comorbidity compared to normative data

"Children with ADKD demonstrated poorer health-related QOL for all domains of psychosocial health and family activities than normative data." 30

Other studies have looked at:

- Evaluating a new parent-completed questionnaire measuring the effect of ADHD on the QOL of patients and their families²¹
- Investigating a new ADHD treatment and its impact on QOL³²
- Comparisons of QOL across different mental health disorders^{™,™}

Notably, Sawyer et al found that, after controlling for age, gender and family structure, children with mental health disorders including ADHD were reported to have a significantly worse QOL in several areas compared to children without the disorder. In addition, in many areas they were reported to have a worse QOL than children with physical disorders.³⁴

"Parents reported that the problems of children with mental disorders interfered significantly with the daily lives of children, parents and families." ³⁴

A study by Ralston et al in 2004 provided an insight into the sample characteristics, clinical diversity and effects of ADHD on academic achievement and social activities. The aim of the study was to assess all patients with ADHD, regardless of comorbidities:¹⁰

- Sleeping problems were relatively common (48%) with nearly half of the affected children experiencing significant interference in well-being as a result
- Academic achievement and social activities were negatively affected in a sizeable proportion of the sample; only 48% were considered to be manageable in the classroom environment whereas 28% experienced some exclusion from school lessons
- 17% of children with ADHD were in a special education programme, 4% were requested to change to a special needs school and 5% were suspended from school altogether

"Only 48% of children with ADKD were considered to be manageable in the classroom environment." 10

To date, the largest paediatric UK pharmacological trial investigating QOL as a primary outcome measure has been performed by Prasad et al:19

- Child and parent-rated effects of ADHD on QOL showed that the condition has a significant negative impact on all areas of QOL
- A significant improvement was seen in the QOL benefits of ADHD medications in the area of social acceptance when rated by the child

"The QOL of children and adolescents with ADND was extremely compromised at baseline, measured using the Child Health and liness Profile-Child Edition (CKIP-CE) scale, and improved with medication over the 10-week study." ¹³

The study was the first in the UK to evaluate QOL in ADHD and use the measure of child perception (which is discussed in more detail in section 7.3).¹³

5.2 What more do we need to find out?

A limitation of the majority of studies involving patients with ADHD is that the child or adolescent's point of view is rarely taken into consideration. The collection of self-perception data should be an important component in QOL studies and is an area which needs to be explored further. The few studies on the impact of ADHD on QOL to date have focused on identifying the effects in terms of specific, individual areas. New studies are beginning to investigate the consideration of broader quality of life outcomes in management decisions, including both pharmacological and behavioural strategies. 18,35

If we are to begin to measure QOL, we need to ensure that we strengthen the evidence base moving into the future.

"By improving quality of life, you are putting children with ADAD on the same playing field as everyone else and giving them an equal chance in life." Andrea Bilbow, Founder and Director of ADDISS

6. How Do We Define Parameters of Quality of Life in ADKD?

There are several controversial factors in the overall consideration of quality of life. It could be argued that the concept of a persons' QOL has arisen as a result of modern, developed society. Furthermore, an individual's QOL is subjective and its use as a comparable measure between patients could be questioned.

Geographical location and social context can increase or decrease the societal 'norm' for QOL. However, as a model, the core symptoms of ADHD result in a decreased QOL for children and adolescents with ADHD and this effect is seen across patient populations and age groups. ¹⁵ The effects of ADHD on QOL should be quantified as effects specifically on health-related QOL (or 'HRQOL').

Considering the evidence outlined in this report, clinicians must look to the effects of ADHD on a patient's overall functional and emotional wellbeing in terms of specific domains in order to measure QOL as a whole:

- · Emotional wellbeing
- · Physical activity
- · Social and family interaction
- · Academic achievement
- · Level of self-satisfaction
- · Self-perception

By using functional measures and child perception, QOL can be measured and, in combination with standard clinical measures, provide guidance for a more holistic approach to the management of ADHD.

"How do you look at quality of life? How do you really know that one person is talking about the same thing as another?"

Professor Harry Zeitlin, Emeritus Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry

"Quality of life may be relative to society but if you have poor health then you have an impaired quality of life, regardless of where you live or who you are." Andrea Bilbow, Founder and Director of ADDISS

7. How Do We Measure the Effect of ADKD on Quality of Life?

7.1 How is ADHD currently managed?

There is no single measure, blood test, brain scan or computer task that can make an ADHD diagnosis or guide management of the condition.²⁶ However, some of these can help to support the findings of extensive assessment interviews with the child, parent and teacher.

The Diagnostic & Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) provides specific criteria for diagnosing ADHD using the domains of inattention, impulsivity and hyperactivity. However, these domains focus solely on recognising the core symptoms of ADHD. In line with these criteria, many experts have traditionally advocated the use of strategies that primarily address the core symptoms of ADHD. However, another view is emerging that considers improving quality of life as a management goal in its own right.

As discussed in section 4, ADHD is commonly associated with comorbidities and these should be taken into consideration. Research indicates that between 60% and 80% of ADHD patients, both in childhood, adolescence and adulthood, are likely to have at least one other disorder besides ADHD and over 30% are likely to have at least two other disorders in addition to ADHD.³⁷ Associated comorbidity may or not be initially apparent and the symptoms may be similar to those of ADHD. Clinicians should therefore take comorbid conditions into account, especially when considering QOL factors.

"The main objective of ADKD management is to ensure that the child is functioning at the same level as most of the children in our society. It is imperative to ensure that the child's core symptoms and quality of life are balanced as the two go hand in hand."

Dr Chris Steer, Consultant Paediatrician

7.2 The evolution of clinical rating scales

Clinical rating scales have been used since the 1970s and, alongside clinical assessment, aid the diagnosis and assessment of ADHD.³⁰

ADHD and associated comorbidities are often evaluated using standardised behavioural clinical rating scales because they offer many advantages:

- Rating scales are easy to use and cost relatively little.
- Rating scales facilitate systematic comparison of differing informant perspectives. Depending on the scale, the views
 of the parent, teacher and patient can be observed and compared.
- Rating scales are usually reliable, offering a consistent approach to patient assessment and have been used successfully in a wide range of clinical research on ADHD.

However, the majority of rating scales focus purely on measuring symptom reduction, with no consideration for the effects of ADHD on other aspects of the child's wellbeing. Although rating scales are valuable tools for diagnosing ADHD and assessing symptoms, there is currently no universally accepted scale for measuring QOL or a scale that specifically measures QOL outcomes in ADHD.



For example, the SNAP-IV rating scale encompasses a broad range of measures, consisting criteria (2000), the Conner's Index Questionnaire (1968), the IOWA Conner's Questionnaire Rating Scale (1998). The Revised Conner's Rating Scales also cover a broad range of obsequence of comorbidities and enable a more holistic approach to assessment by including questions a skills and participation in leisure activities. Both scales are closely aligned to the DSM-IV criused clinical rating scales in the UK can be found in Appendix 1, although please note that

An increasing number of clinical rating scales are being developed to help identify and defir also assist clinicians in the consideration of QOL factors, such as the Child Health Question should continue to be used to measure ADHD, but separate scales should be adopted to potentially provide a combined rating through statistical analysis. In addition, a scale that so from comorbid disorders would assist in the measurement of QOL and one to evaluate tas capacity for all children with ADHD.

"There are too many rating scales and everyone is ones based on cost, preference and experience. We a uniform approach." Or saroj Jamdar, Associate Specialist in

7.3 Patient perception: A validated measure?

Self-perception can be described as the way people feel about themselves. Although the readolescent self-perception is continually questioned, the self-awareness of a very young charter is evidence that school-aged children with ADHD perceive themselves differently from adolescents their age and it is the perception of their behaviour that stands out the most. With ADHD score lower than their peers on self-perceived academic performance. This disperformance and actual performance is an area which needs to be investigated further.

Children move through a key transitional period between eight and nine years of age in wh changes and peer approval becomes critical. The concept of self-perception is said to be in which is also the time around which ADHD is commonly diagnosed and treated. Children 11 years of age are at a critical point in the development of self-awareness, particularly influ

Findings suggest a difference in the way school-aged children with ADHD perceive themselves as compared with their peers.³⁸

7.4 How do we measure self perception in ADHD?

The Harter Self Perception-Profile for children (HSPP) is the most common clinical rating scale to measure child-rated self-esteem scores and is widely used by developmental psychologists. The HSPP is a self-reporting inventory for ascertaining children's perception of themselves in various domains of their life, as well as their sense of self-worth. Although it is currently only validated for use in children aged eight to 11 years, this covers the beginning of the key transitional period from childhood into adolescence. The needs and self-perception of the patient change from around 13 years, in which various other rating scales with adolescent reporting forms can be utilised, such as the Revised Conner's Parent Rating Scale and the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ).

Although patient perception in ADHD is more commonly taken into account in the US, the recent Prasad et al SUNBEAM study is the first UK trial to incorporate child-rated self-perception scores specifically to examine the broader efficacy of pharmacotherapy in ADHD.¹⁰

However, in order to eliminate issues of parental influence, the child or adolescent should have the option of a selfreporting form that they can complete themselves. Clinicians should also be sensitive to the question style and the child's age. With regards to ethical sensitivities, clinicians should ensure that the parent or caregiver is at hand to provide support if required and follow a validated self-perception rating scale.

The recent National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidance on ADHD recommends that the preferences of the child and his/her parent or guardian are one of the key considerations when choosing a treatment for ADHD.³

Evidence suggests that attention should be focused on fostering self-esteem and positive self-perception in children with ADHD through support groups and behavioural training.³³

7.5 Measurement of QOL: The new parameter in ADHD

Even though UK clinicians are increasingly recognising the effects of ADHD on QOL, they feel that by treating the symptoms of ADHD, they are subsequently improving the child's QOL. However, using QOL as a measure of the ultimate management goal may not currently be reflected in their assessment and prescribing habits.

Diagnosis and management of ADHD in the clinical environment should therefore include the use of appropriate rating scales that take into account all domains affected by QOL such as self-esteem and social acceptance, in addition to the measurement of core symptoms. Where possible, the views of the patient should be sought in order to provide a comprehensive view of the overall wellbeing of the child or adolescent. The emergence of new and enhanced rating scales that measure ADHD and QOL will enable clinicians to do this more readily.

Lisa Mangle, Specialist ADHD Nurse

8. Foundations for the Future: A Call to Action

Considering the evidence contained within this report, it is clear that ADHD significantly impairs a child's QOL. As a result, UK clinicians are urged to:

- Consider improving QOL as the goal of ADHD management.
 - It is essential that professionals working in the field of ADHD consider both the short and longterm impact of impaired QOL and the implications it can have on the child and their family.
- Embrace a consistent approach to understanding, managing and evaluating QOL in ADHD, supported by the growing clinical evidence base.
 - This will be paramount to improving the management of the condition and ultimately improving the overall wellbeing of children and adolescents with ADHD.
- Use standard, objective measures, such as validated clinical rating scales and patient perception tools, as measures of QOL in ADHD.
 - Clinicians are recommended to use two or three validated rating scales that provide the interviewer with information on both the patient's core symptoms, QOL outcomes and the broader efficacy of medications.
 - These tools allow clinicians to gain an accurate picture of the patient's overall wellbeing in addition to core symptom presentation at different points throughout a child's life, thereby providing a basis for clinicians to build the most appropriate management strategy around the patient's needs. There is no 'one size fits all' approach.
- Promote the formation of a widescale network to ensure an integrated approach to QOL in ADHD by clinical, educational, social, advocacy and government services.
 - The current inconsistency in approach towards considering QOL in ADHD extends beyond the clinical setting. A joined up, multi-disciplinary approach will ultimately prove the most effective method of increasing long-term clinical and social outcomes for all children and adolescents with ADHD and their positive impact on society.

"Although conditions such as Dyslexia and Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD) are fully accepted, ADHD is the poor relation with regards to special needs education in the UK at this time."

Fintan O'Regan, Behaviour Management Consultant

"Although therapy is generally assessed in terms of its effectiveness in controlling the core symptoms of ADKD, the ultimate goal should be to improve the long-term functioning of the child. Clinicians need to lead the way and set new standards in the management of ADKD."

Professor Harry Zeitlin, Emeritus Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry

"We must call upon other agencies charged with responsibilities for these children and young adults to play their part by learning more about how ADAD affects them and delivering services that take this into account. It is no longer good enough just to get by; these people are our adults of the future and they deserve a better chance in life."

Phil Anderton, Former Senior Police Officer

"We need more support for parents and families with ADKD, at an emotional, social and an educational level."

Andrea Bilbow. Founder and Director of ADDISS

9. Appendix 1: A Guide to Common Clinical Rating Scales

This guide has been developed to provide you with a quick reference guide to commonly used clinical rating scale in the UK. Please note that this list is not exhaustive and other rating scales are available.

Date established	Measures	Age range	Time to complete	Daton	Number of items	Comments
	FOR ASSESSIN	District Selection (Co.	Table to complete	Males.	UI IIICIIIS	Guillians
	College of Parties	IG ADHD				
1998	Initial diagnosis of ADHD and evaluating treatment outcomes	Children and adolescents aged 5-17 years	5-10 minutes	Parent Teacher	18	Alternative to SNAP-IV Separate scoring profiles for females and males Home and school versions Require permission to reproduce
ADHD Sym	ptom Rating Scal	e-IV ⁴¹				
2001	Measures treatment outcomes	Children and adolescents aged 5-18 years	15-20 minutes	Parent Teacher Self report	56	Good sensitivity to treatment effects Incorporates other sources in addition to DSM-IV No collection of adolescent self-report data
Brown ADD	Scales (BADDS)	10				
1996, 2001	Screening, assessment and monitoring of ADHD in all age groups	Children and adolescents aged 3-7 years, 8-12 years, 12-18 years and adults 18 years plus	15-20 minutes	Parent Teacher	40-50	Measures go beyond hyperactivity Overall Brown "package" includes diagnostic forms and procedure
Conner's Pa	arent Rating Scale	es - Revised ⁴⁰			444	
1998	Assessment of problem behaviours by parents	Children and adolescents aged 3-17 years	Short version: 5-10 minutes Long version: 15-20 minutes	Parent Teacher Adolescent self-report	Short version: 27 Long version: 80	Short and long versions Hand-scoring
SNAP-IV R	ating Scale ⁴⁰					
1983	Scale for diagnosing ADHD in children and screening a wide variety of other non-ADHD disorders	Children and adolescents	30-40 minutes	Parent Teacher	90	Easy to use Used in epidemiological studies Includes items from the DSM-IV that may overlap with other disorders Lengthy completion
Vanderbilt A	DHD Rating Scal	e (VARS)41			10001	
2003	Newer DSM-IV based rating scales	Children aged 6-12 years	10-15 minutes	Teacher (VADTRS) Parent (VADPRS)	43	Subscale to measure anxiety and depression Measures ODD and Conduct Disorder

Date established	Measures	Age range	Time to complete	Rater	Number of items	Advantages
2. SCALES	FOR MONITOR	RING AND MANA	GING ADHD AN	D MEASURING	QOL	
Child Health	Questionnaire (C	CHQ) ⁴²				
1994	Assessment of physical, emotional and social wellbeing	Children 5 years and above	30-50mins	Parent (CHQ-PF50) Child (CHQ-CF87 aged 10 years+)	Parent: 50 Child: 87	Generic measure of quality of life for use across different disease areas Measures both physical and psychological wellbeing
The Child B	l Jehaviour Checklis	st (CBCL) ⁴⁰				
1991	Broad screening instrument for a wide variety of disorders including ADHD	Children and adolescents 1.5-5 years and 6-18 years	40-50 minutes	Parent Teacher Adolescent	118, plus 2 open- ended	Very broad and not sensitive to change due to a 3-point scoring band Sensitive to patient's mood Lengthy completion
Child Health	n and Illness Profi	le (CHIP) ⁴³				
CHIP-AE 2000 CHIP CE 2001	Measures the health of children from the parents' perspective	Children aged 6-11 years (CHIP-CE) and adolescents aged 11-17 (CHIP-AE)	20 minutes	Parent	76	Provides holistic perspective of the child's health Very broad Does not specifically assess ADHD
Harter Self-	Perception Profile	for Children (HSF	P) ⁴⁰			
1985	Questionnaire to evaluate self- esteem across 5 specific domains plus a global self- worth measure	Children aged 8-11 years	15-20 minutes	Patient (teacher-child instrument only)	36	Easy to use Questions the child's self-perception Cannot be used in children below aged 8 years due to reading ability and concept of self-worth



Date established	Measures	Age range	Time to complete	Rater	Number of items	Advantages
3. OTHER	SCALES		CHARLES CONTROL OF THE SAME	Section 1		Mallotte State Control
Dundee Dif	ficult Times of the	Day Scale (D-DT	ODS)*4			
2006 The Streng	Assessment of the typical day with ADHD, including potential times of difficulty	Children (not specified)	5-10 minutes	Clinician (completed with the parent or child together)	10	Measures all times of the day Quick completion Offers opportunity to develop specific action plan for difficult times of the day
1997	Brief behavioural screening questionnaire for assessment and evaluation of treatment progress	Children and adolescents aged 4-16 years	5-10 minutes	Parent Teacher Adolescent	25	Four subscales that can be totalled for an overall difficulties score Easy to use Focus on strengths as well as difficulties Quick completion Does not specifically rate ADHD symptoms



10. References

- Escobar R, Soutullo CA, Hervas A, Gastaminza X, Popavieja P & Gilaberte I. Worse quality of life for children with newly diagnosed attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, compared with asthmatic and healthy children. Pediatrics 2005; 116(3): 364-369
- Rowland AS, Lesesne CA & Abramowitz AJ. The epidemiology of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a public health view. Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews 2002; 8(3): 162-170
- National institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Methylphenidate, atomoxetine and dexamfetamine for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children and adolescents. Technology Appraisal 98; 2006
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed. (DSM-IV). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 1994
- O'Regan F. How to teach and Manage Children with ADHD. LDA Publishing 2001
- Leidy NK, Revicki DA & Geneste B. Recommendations for evaluating the validity of quality of life claims for labelling and promotion. Value Health 1999; 2: 113-127
- 7. ADDISS Families Survey, August 2006
- Ipsos Health: ADHD Lessons 4 Life Research UK. August-September 2006.
 Research conducted on behalf of Eli Lilly and Company Limited
- Bussing R, Zima BT & Perwien AR. Self-esteem in special education children with ADHD: Relationship to disorder characteristics and medication use. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 2000; 39:1260–1269
- Raiston SJ, Lorenzo MJM & the ADORE study group. ADORE Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Observational Research in Europe. European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 2004; 13(1): I/36–I/42
- Aldgate J & McIntosh M. Time well spent: a study of well-being and children's daily activities. Commissioned for the review of looked after children in Scotland. Social Work Inspection Agency 2006
- O'Regan F. Questions and Answers regarding ADHD, Jessica Kingsley Books 2007 (shead of print)
- Prasad S, Harpin V, Poole L, Zeitlin L, Jamdar S & Puvanendran K on behalf of the SUNBEAM Study Group. A multi-centre, randomised, open-label study of atomoxetine compared with standard current therapy in UK children and adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Current Medical Research and Opinion 2007; 23(2): 379–394
- Jadad AR, Boyle M, Cunningham C, Kim M & Schachar R. Treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment (Summary) 1999: No. 11
- Harpin VA. The effect of ADHD on the life of an individual, their family, and community from preschool to adult life, Archives of Disease in Childhood 2006; 90(1): 12-17
- Wilens TE, Adamson J, Sgambati S, Whitley J, Santry A, Monuteaux MC et al. Do individuals with ADHD self-medicate with cigarettes and substances of abuse? Results from a controlled family study of ADHD. American Journal on Addictions 2007; 16(1): 14-21
- Elia J, Ambrosini PJ & Rapoport JL. Treatment of attention-deficithyperactivity disorder. New England Journal of Medicine 1999; 340: 780-788
- Hechtman L, Weiss G & Perlman T. Hyperactives as young adults: past and current substance abuse and antisocial behavior. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 1964; 54(3): 415-425
- Audit Commission, Youth Justice 2004; A Review of the Reformed Youth Justice System 2004
- Rösler M, Retz W, Retz-Junginger P, Hengesch G, Schneider M, Supprian T et al. Prevalence of attention deficit-/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and comorbid disorders in young male prison inmates. European Archives of Psychiatry and Civical Neuroscience 2004; 254(6): 365-371
- Eyestone LL & Howell RJ. An epidemiological study of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and major depression in a male prison population. The Bulletin of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law 1994; 22(2): 181-193
- Gunter TD, Arndt S, Riggins-Caspers K, Wenman G & Cadoret RJ. Adult outcomes of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and conduct disorder: are the risks independent or additive? Annals of Clinical Psychiatry 2006; 18(4): 233-237
- Byun H, Yang J, Lee M, Jang W, Yang JW & Kim JH. Psychiatric comorbidity in Korean children and adolescents with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: psychopathology according to subtype. Yansie Medical Journal 2006; 47(1): 113-121
- Chamlin SL, Frieden JJ, Williams ML & Chren MM. Effects of atopic dermatitis on young American children and their families. Pediatrics 2004; 114(3): 607-611

- Daud LR, Garralda ME & David TJ. Psychosocial adjustment in preschool children with atopic eczema. Archives of Disease in Childhood 1993; 69: 670–676
- Whittemore R, Dann Urban A, Tamboriane WV & Grey M. Quality of life in school-aged children with type 1 diabetes on intensive treatment and their parents. The Diabetes Educator 2003; 29: 847
- Mullins LL, Chaney JM, Hartman VL, Olsen RA, Youll LK, Reyes S et al. Child and maternal adaptation to cystic fibrosis and IIDM: Differential patterns across disease states, Journal of Pediatric Psychology 1995; 20: 173-186
- Hornse H, Banerjee S, Zeitlin H & Robertson M. The prevalence of Touriette syndrome in 13-14-year-olds in mainstream schools. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2001; 42(8): 1035-1039
- Aaronson NK, Quality of life: What is it? How should it be measured? Oncology 1988; 2(5): 69-76
- Klassen AF, Miller A & Fine S. Health-related quality of life in children and adolescents who have a diagnosis of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. Pediatrics 2004; 114(5): 541-547
- Landgraf JM, Rich M & Rappaport L. Measuring quality of life in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and their families: Development and evaluation of a new tool. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine 2002; 156(4): 384-391
- DeVeaugh-Geiss J, Conners CK, Sarkis EH, Winner PK, Ginsberg LD & Hemphill JM et al. GW320659 for the treatment of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder in children. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry 2002; 418: 914-920
- Bastlaansen D, Koot HM, Ferdinand RF & Verhulst FC. Quality of life in children with psychiatric disorders: self, parent, and clinician report, Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry 2004; 43(2): 221-30
- Sawyer MG, Whaites L, Rey JM, Hazell PL, Graetz BW & Baghurst P. Health-related quality of life of children and adolescents with mental disorders. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 2002; 41(5): 530-537
- Alder LA, Sutton VK, Moore RJ, Dietrich AP, Reimherr PW, Saylor KE et al. Quality of life assessment in adult patients with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder treated with atomoxetine. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology 2006; 26(6): 648-652
- Brown TE. Attention Deficit Disorder: The Unfocused Mind in Children and Adults, Yale University Press 2005
- Hershorin ER. Comorbidities in Children and Adolescents with ADHD. Journal of Pediatric Healthcare 2006; Neurology Report pg.59-61
- Cordes M & McLaughlin TF. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and rating scales with a brief overview of the Connors teacher rating scale (1998). International Journal of Special Education 2004; 19(2): 23-27
- Barber S, Grubbs L & Cottrell B. Self-perception in children with Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Journal of Pediatric Nursing 2005; 20(4): 235– 245
- Barton J & Keen D. ADHD: UK guide to rating scales. Sponsored by an educational grant from Eli Lilly and Company Limited 2003
- Collet BR, Ohan JL & Myers KM. Ten year review of rating scales V: scales assessing Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 2003; 42(9): 1015-1037
- Hepner KA and Sechrest L. Confirmatory factor analysis of the Child Health Questionnaire-Parent Form 50 in predominantly minority samples. Quality of Life Research 2002; 11: 763-773
- Riley AW, Forest CB, Starfield B, Reboik GW, Robertson JA & Green BF. The parent report form of the chip-child edition: reliability and validity. Medical Care 2004; 42(3): 210-220
- Coghill D. Dundee Difficult Times of the Day Scale & Assessment of Impact on Child & Family Self-Esteem and Quality of Life (D-DTODS), University of Dundee 2006



